Increasing Africa's Agricultural Productivity

September 2012

A report by the Pan Africa Chemistry Network





About this publication

This report is intended for an audience of policymakers in Africa with an interest in the food security of the continent. It aims to highlight, in a non-technical way, the areas where research in the chemical sciences can contribute to increasing Africas agricultural productivity in a sustainable way.

The RSC is committed to raising awareness of the role of chemistry in addressing global challenges and it is hoped that the report will be of interest to the wider scientific community and the public.

The Royal Society of Chemistry

The Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC) is the leading society and professional body for chemical scientists. Supported by a network of over 48,000 members worldwide and an internationally acclaimed publishing business, our activities span education and training, conferences and science policy, and the promotion of the chemical sciences to the public. Our headquarters are in London and Cambridge, with international offices in the USA, China, Japan, India and Brazil.

www.rsc.org

Syngenta

Syngenta is one of the world's leading companies with more than 26,000 employees in over 90 countries dedicated to our purpose: bringing plant potential to life. Through world-class science, global reach and commitment to our customers we help to increase crop productivity, protect the environment and improve health and quality of life.

www.syngenta.com

Pan Africa Chemistry Network

The Pan Africa Chemistry Network (PACN) was set up by the RSC in partnership with Syngenta, with a special focus on the Millennium Development Goals aimed at advancing the chemical sciences across Africa. It represents an innovative approach to working with universities, schools, scientists, teachers, and students. A co-ordinated approach is crucial to success and the PACN is engaging with chemical societies throughout Africa, together with the Federation of African Chemical Societies. The PACN has established regional hubs in Ethiopia and Kenya and increased the existing collaboration with universities and other partners in South Africa. Two new centres of excellence in analytical chemistry have recently been launched in Nigeria with the support of partner Procter & Gamble.

www.rsc.org/pacn

Table of contents

Background	2
Introduction	3
Key messages and recommendations	4
1 Crop and soil nutrition	6
1.1 Use of fertilisers	6
1.2 Soil and plant science	6
2 New crop protection strategies	8
3 The link between food and water	10
4 Land management	11
4.1 Land use for non-food production	11
4.2 Empowering smallholders	11
4.3 Enabling economic growth	11
5 The African context	13
5.1 Understanding African agriculture	13
5.2 Collaboration and co-operation	13
5.3 Education	13
5.4 Building research capacity	14
5.5 Regulation and extension services	14
5.6 Finance, markets and infrastructure	15
Appendix: Case studies	16
References	20

Background

Food security is an urgent global issue. The world population passed the seven billion mark in 2011 and it is expected to reach over nine billion by 2050. However, we only have limited resources with which to feed this growing population. In 1960, one hectare of land was available for the production of food for two people. By 2050, the same amount of land will need to feed more than six people.¹ Environmental stresses such as limited water availability, climate change and variability, as well as legacies from the unsustainable management of natural resources and poor agricultural practices (soil erosion and depletion of minerals), make feeding the population a complex and challenging target.

In Africa, the issue of food security is even more acute and is affected by a combination of factors. Across the continent millions of people still live in poverty. Some areas are prone to drought and many people have no access to clean drinking water. A recent report revealed that sub-Saharan Africa has the lowest drinking water coverage of any region in the world.² Additionally, as is the case throughout the world, most of the population increase in Africa will be via the growth of urban populations.3 A major revitalisation of agriculture in Africa is needed to underpin development ahead of the drivers of population increase, demographic change and climate change.

Supporting the development of research in the chemical sciences and strengthening its links with other complementary disciplines across Africa and beyond needs to be a key part of a long-term plan to ensure the future food security of the continent.

In November 2011, the Pan Africa Chemistry Network (PACN), sponsored by the Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC) and Syngenta, held the first PACN congress on agricultural productivity at the International Convention Centre in Accra, Ghana. The findings and recommendations in this report represent the discussions of the 150 scientists and practitioners who attended the conference from 16 different African countries, as well as from Europe, the USA and Asia, and from the delegates who participated in the postconference workshop that was held at the RSC in London on 23 February 2012.

Report contributors

Dr John Clough, Syngenta, UK

Dr Simon Cook, CGIAR, Sri Lanka

Professor James Darkwa, University of Johannesburg, South Africa

Dr Mindy Dulai, RSC (Editor), UK

Dr Brhane Gebrekidan, Ethiopian Academy of Sciences, Ethiopia

Professor Paul Hadley, University of Reading, UK

Dr Tony Hooper, Rothamsted Research, UK

Dr Bashir Jama, Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa, Ghana

Dr Charles Midega, International Centre for Insect Physiology and Ecology, Kenya

Dr Alejandra Palermo, RSC, UK

Dr Baldwyn Torto, International Centre for Insect Physiology and Ecology, Kenya

Professor Shem Wandiga, University of Nairobi, Kenya

Introduction

African economies rely heavily on agriculture. It is estimated that the contribution of agriculture to the gross domestic product (GDP) is as high as 75% in some sub-Saharan countries.4 Many of the crops grown in Africa, such as sorghum and millet, are not commonly consumed as food outside of the region, which means that strategies to increase productivity for these crops need to be led by researchers in Africa.

Models used to predict alterations in agricultural productivity in relation to climate change show a likely future improvement in many regions in the northern hemisphere (eg Europe), but predict that productivity will not improve or decline in Africa.⁵ Climate change

> eruturditurelaf(f)1educthe grocr wn diturfieadaptelation tt ra(fr)-7abilivit129 e chanant that prode [thmosnot)]J T*si(eg)nif7(ict t pr)11blem as fricult

Key messages and recommendations

Increasing agricultural productivity needs scientific intervention. Fundamental research in chemical sciences, in partnership with other disciplines, will help to increase our understanding in areas like the interactions between crops and pests and how plants obtain and use nutrients from the soil. This research will help to develop the technologies that can deliver higher on-farm yields. Increasing Africas agricultural productivity will require investment in multidisciplinary research, including the infrastructure to support this research.

However, a long-term strategy to improve yields sustainably requires a supporting environment that nurtures an appropriate socioeconomic climate. This section summarises the reports key findings. It highlights how the chemical sciences and changes in the socioeconomic environment can help to improve Africa's agricultural productivity.

1. Inorganic fertilisers are an essential tool to help improve crop and soil nutrition

Access to finance is a major barrier to increasing fertiliser application. African governments need to improve access to finance for smallholders. Alternatives, such as the use of nitrogen-rich plants to enhance nutrient content are a useful supporting strategy but they cannot be used alone. Chemical scientists have a role in undertaking research into the natural mechanisms that govern these processes, thereby generating information that can help to tailor the use of fertiliser inputs to best effect.

2. Coherent multidisciplinary research programmes are required to develop new crop protection strategies

Alongside biological scientists, chemical scientists will help to develop methods for integrated pest management which take account of changes in natural interactions between species as a result of climate change. R(nhs in)ŢJ T*[natura_0 1 T)s(eas Ishouldount of climate change.

4. The chemical sciences have a role in improving land management

The management of land is critical to the growth of crops and, by association, the long-term livelihood of farmers and their families. There is a challenge for chemical scientists in making existing technologies (eg soil monitoring tools and methods for remediation) scalable and affordable so that they can be used by smallholders as part of an ongoing land management strategy. The RSC needs to provide opportunities for researchers to communicate with agencies that work closely with smallholders. The PACN should look to deliver focused workshops that examine specific areas of chemical science that can improve agricultural productivity by bringing together researchers and those who work closely with farmers (eg to develop analytical tools for farming). Alongside this, policies are needed that encourage farmers to invest in sustainable farming practices and educational extension services that disseminate knowledge to farmers. The availability of long-term land leases would encourage sustainable practices and should be a priority for local authorities.

5. The implementation of technology must address the needs of the end user in African agriculture (smallholders)

In some cases, the chemical technologies that can help to increase Africas agricultural productivity already exist, but they are not reaching the end user. Agronomists should continue to embed the practices that will ensure that smallholders can use these technologies to best effect. Extension services are an important mechanism to communicate new practices to farmers, and they should go hand-in-hand with technological advances. Non-governmental organisations that have active links with both smallholders and researchers have an important role in facilitating this. The RSC should examine existing programmes and identify areas where it can contribute knowledge to help ensure that chemical technologies for agriculture reach those who need them.

6. Funding schemes should encourage multidisciplinary collaboration between scientists in Africa and the rest of the world

International partnerships need to be driven by African scientists. Also, collaboration between African scientists is needed as they are uniquely placed to understand the social, economic and cultural drivers that affect the uptake of technology. Networks such as the PACN can help to bring together scientists across Africa and the world to provide forums for generating international collaborations. Additionally, the PACN should alert researchers within the network to funding opportunities and use its hubs in Africa to disseminate up-to-date information on funding calls.

7. Educating the next generation of researchers

This will allow Africa to build its research capacity and establish the correct sequence of long-term scientific advice for extension services. Building research capacity in Africa is essential both in terms of training researchers and infrastructure development (laboratories and equipment). African governments must invest in the scientific skills pipeline from school education through to research at university level. Organisations such as the PACN have a role in supporting skills development with specialised initiatives, such as teacher training and workshops to develop researchers skills, including skills in communication and scientific writing.

1 Crop and soil nutrition

Fertiliser use in sub-Saharan Africa is far below the global average. In 2008, an average of just over 200kg of fertiliser per hectare was applied to arable land in the UK. In Ghana, the corresponding figure was just 6.4kg per hectare. External nutrient application is essential to ensure that adequate amounts of phosphorus and nitrogen are available to crops.

1.1 Use of fertilisers

The depletion of soil nutrients is known to reduce crop yields. A reduced crop yield will, in turn, result in reduced soil cover, leaving the soil exposed and open to the effects of weathering and accelerating the process of soil erosion. Whilst the use of manures and other organic fertilisers can help to increase organic matter in soils, on their own they contain insufficient inorganic nutrients to meet the needs of crops. In addition, the use of organic fertilisers may not be practical for some smallholder subsistence farmers because farmers are often unable to farm both livestock and crops due to land constraints. Even where this is possible, it can prove labour-intensive so although organic fertilisers have a role in agriculture, they should be used alongside inorganic fertilisers.

The application of greater amounts of inorganic fertiliser will help to address deficiencies in two key nutrients, nitrogen and phosphorus (see Nutrients for plants). However, alongside measures to help smallholders gain access to the vital nutrients needed to boost yields, a long-term strategy for monitoring and managing soil health in Africa is needed.

Increasing the application of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilisers should lead to increased agricultural productivity. Of course, such increases need to be managed carefully to minimise any negative environmental impacts. The chemical sciences have an important role in developing appropriate formulations of fertilisers that decrease run-off and increase nutrient use efficiency. These technologies must be backed up with suitable extension services to ensure that farmers are able to use such inputs correctly and with crop protection strategies that maximise yields, but minimise any negative effects on the ecosystem.

1.2 Soil and plant science

Soil science research will build up knowledge on the state of Africas soils and will be the basis for long-term gains in agricultural productivity. As a discipline, soil science presents technical challenges; soil is not uniform in its composition and therefore the processes that occur in it can vary greatly according to its spatial distribution making them challenging to study and model. Soil science combines aspects of biology, chemistry, geology and engineering but chemistry plays a central role in many areas such as monitoring pH, determining nutrient content, and mineral and structural studies.

There has been progress in large-scale mapping of soil quality across the African continent. The Africa Soil Information Service initiative was launched in 2009 with funding from the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation and the Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA).8 It aims to provide a single large-scale resource which will accurately map soil conditions across the continent and provide a unique reference tool to help predict changes in soil properties. The programme uses a range of tools to monitor soil at selected field sites. Many of these tools involve chemical techniques, such as near-infrared spectroscopy, to help determine the amount of carbonaceous matter in the soil. These are combined with spatial analysis techniques like digital soil mapping to provide a thorough physiochemical analysis of a given area of land. However, there is a challenge in developing simple, cheap, portable technologies on a scale that can be used by farmers to monitor soil within their own smallholdings. There are also challenges in the development of practical remediation treatments for degraded soils that can be used on a smallholder scale.

While direct application of inorganic fertilisers will help to increase productivity, underpinning chemical and biological research can help to make sure that the benefits of such inputs are maximised. One

the

By understanding what affects the action of these bacteria, fertiliser application can be tailored to work alongside these naturally occurring processes. Other important complementary strategies include genetics and plant breeding. New research into breeding varieties of crops that exhibit faster root nodule growth has the potential to lead to the development of crops that can fix nitrogen more efficiently, and therefore improve overall yield.

Recommendations

Increased fertiliser inputs (nitrogen and phosphorus) are needed to increase agricultural productivity. African governments need to support financial schemes to facilitate this.

Other agricultural strategies, like improved crop varieties and seeds and the planting of legumes in rotations, should also be examined but their application needs to be integrated in order to sustainably achieve higher crop yields. Learned societies like the RSC should develop ways to ensure advice delivered via extension services for farmers is based upon sound science. The RSC could do this by creating opportunities for African scientists to engage with policymakers.

Coherent research strategies across scientific disciplines are needed to develop methodologies that work at the farm level. Research into the natural mechanisms that govern nutrient cycling in the environment will require the input of chemical scientists, biologists and geoscientists. The RSC has a role in identifying the specific areas that require collaboration and provide opportunities for chemical scientists to interact with other disciplines. It also has a role in facilitating the interaction of public and private organisations to address the issue of how to revitalise Africa s soils.

To improve crop nutrition, funding for research programmes in soil science is needed. This includes

2 New crop protection strategies

Increased fertiliser inputs are essential if Africas agricultural productivity is to improve, but appropriate crop protection strategies are also important. Scientific advances can contribute to the development of such solutions: synthetic insecticides, fungicides and herbicides have all been critical to protecting crop yields. It is estimated that up to 40% of the worlds food would not exist without crop protection products.¹⁰

Providing access to good seed varieties which are suitable for use in a particular climate is a fundamental step in improving crop yield. Treating seeds to ensure that they have the optimum physical and chemical properties to survive in a particular climate is an example of the way in which yields may be enhanced (see Seed treatment).

New strategies in pest control need to take account of the consequences of environmental change. In particular, we need to be prepared for species to respond to changes in climate in different ways. The reactions of a particular pest species are driven, to varying extents, by the other species with which it interacts. Possible changes that need consideration include:

a change in climate that may induce faster population growth rates of pests and pathogens;

the range expansion of invasive species, or pests targeting new crops;

the loss of possible genetic sources of disease resistance as wild relatives of crops may disappear;

changes in soil fertility and increased soil erosion that can affect the natural capacity of soils to control soil-borne pests and diseases;

the potential for decoupling between pests and their natural enemies.

Crop protection strategies need to examine possible pest behaviour under a host of different scenarios as a result of climate change and variability. Climate variability depends upon location and demonstrates the need for local scientists to address such problems at a regional level. A combined approach, known as Integrated Pest Management (IPM) is needed because it brings together the chemical and biological aspects of crop protection. By using biological and chemical techniques to probe the differences in species response, technologies can be developed to exploit such synergies at the farm level (see Case study B -Allelopathy in action).

Seed treatment

Seed treatment involves applying an ingredient (like a crop protection chemical, usually a fungicide or an insecticide) to the seed prior to sowing. This forms a protective layer around the seed during its initial growth. As the seed germinates, the active ingredient is absorbed by the emerging roots and is distributed throughout the

tissues of the plant, giving protection from pests via the soil and the air.11 Seed treatment is a preferred technology because it allows smaller quantities of chemicals

to be used than when they are applied as foliar sprays. It is therefore not only economical but leads to a lower impact on non-target organisms.

Research approaches using semiochemicals

Semiochemicals are signal chemicals that organisms such as plants and insects use to communicate with each other. They can be divided into different classes. Pheromones convey signals between members of the same species and may, for example, be used as an alarm signal to alert others to a predator. Allelochemicals, by contrast, convey signals between different species. An example would be the chemicals given off by plants to deter insect pests. When one organism is influenced by chemicals emitted by another, this is referred to as an allelopathic effect. An understanding of semiochemicals and the ways in which they operate is useful because it can sometimes be exploited to develop novel and sustainable pest management methods.

Nature has developed elegant mechanisms that allow insects to find appropriate host plants for feeding and breeding. Plants emit complex mixtures of volatile chemicals which can be difficult to distinguish. However, receptors in insect antennae are not only sensitive to the combination of chemicals in a mixture, but also the ratio in which they are present, making them highly sophisticated analytical systems.¹²

A system known as gas chromatography coupled electrophysiology has been developed to build an understanding of the chemical communications

between insects and plants. The complex mixture of the volatile chemicals given off by a specific plant is split into individual components. These are then passed one by one over an insect antenna, and those that trigger a response can be identified.

This piece of equipment is a key tool in the research programmes of organisations such as the International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE) in Kenya.¹³ Its aim is to help alleviate poverty, ensure food security and improve the overall health status of rural and urban poor through the management of harmful and useful arthropods associated with plants, animals and humans while preserving the environment.

The integration of such natural biological systems with a known analytical chemistry technique provides a powerful tool with which to understand the action of those semiochemicals that relate to crop

protection. The development of such chemical and biological analytical systems is essential in helping to develop new strategies in pest management.

iStock

Recommendations

Research addressing the challenges of managing pests under a changing climate needs to be multidisciplinary to address all aspects of the challenge. The RSC will work with researchers to facilitate new collaborations. The PACN should organise targeted workshops to bring researchers across disciplines together in Africa with those who work closely with farmers (eg non-governmental organisations) to address specific challenges in African agriculture.

Technology for managing pests, which stems from fundamental research, must address the practical needs of smallholders which differ vastly from the requirements for farmers working on a larger scale. The RSC must enable communication between researchers and organisations that work closely with farmers to make sure that this information exchange takes place.

Policymakers need to work with chemical scientists to put together robust, practical legislation to guide the use of crop protection chemicals. Such legislation must be backed up with provision from local authorities of adequate extension services. Through the PACN, the RSC has a role in equipping African scientists with the skills needed to engage with policymakers and those that deliver extension services. This will ensure the spread of best practice whilst taking account of local conditions.

3 The link between food and water

The challenge of managing water involves several different sectors, so it is essential to develop partnerships between governments, the private sector, the scientific community and the media. The chemical sciences have a role in assessing and improving water quality but this area also requires careful co-operation from other stakeholders. Many governments are not making wise investment decisions about water: it is not easy to evaluate the costs and benefits of water,

4 Land management

Land management is a key consideration in improving agricultural productivity, not just in Africa, but globally. Future agriculture will continue under the assumption that there is little or no new land for food production.¹⁷ Some land that has been used for agriculture has become degraded over the years due to poor farming practices (eg poor tillage, over-application of fertiliser), leading to lower yields. A lack of consistent land management policies has meant that soil has become depleted due to years of farming without replenishment of minerals and soil organic matter. Short-term leasing of land to smallholders means that they are not encouraged to invest in the long-term health of the land that they cultivate. A combination of equipping farmers with the correct tools to manage their land and leasing policies that support this are needed.

4.1 Land use for non-food production

There is growing interest across the world in biofuels and the cultivation of biomass for this purpose. However, any planned use of land for non-food agriculture must

5 The African context

This report has outlined some of the areas where science and technology can help Africa to increase its agricultural productivity. However, research and development of new technologies cannot be adopted in isolation. There are a range of other socioeconomic and cultural factors, specific to Africa, that must be addressed to ensure that the technologies described in the previous chapters have maximum impact.

5.1 Understanding African agriculture

Most agriculture in Africa is carried out by smallholders and, as such, any new technological advances must be suitable for use at this level. Similarly, a number of Africas major crops are specific to particular regions, eg sorghum and millets. The challenges and solutions associated with increasing the yields of these crops should be led by African scientists.

5.2 Collaboration and co-operation

Collaboration between scientists of different disciplines, and in different places, is essential in contributing to new advances. Co-operative ventures between African scientists and scientists outside of Africa are important to facilitate knowledge exchange, and the input from African scientists should drive the collaborations between laboratories.

Currently, the collaboration and exchange of ideas between scientists within Africa seems to be at a lower level than that of scientists outside of Africa. But African scientists are uniquely placed to share knowledge on the application of technology with respect to social, economic and cultural drivers. The PACN needs to continue to encourage collaborations, through the use of its shared facilities and through targeted research meetings which bring together scientists across disciplines.

5.3 Education

Opportunities to educate the next generation are intrinsically linked to Africas agricultural productivity. By improving access to fertiliser and seeds, improving land management practices and restoring poor-quality land, smallholders can move from subsistence farming to growing crops in surplus or of higher economic value, leading to greater economic empowerment. This will allow access to education for their families, providing opportunities for future generations.

Alongside this, the role of education in inspiring the next generation of African scientists should also be strengthened to build capacity. Organisations like the PACN have a role in helping to facilitate mentoring for young African researchers by encouraging the development of skills such as scientific writing and applying for academic grants. One way that this can be achieved is by the PACN acting as a broker between young researchers in Africa and more experienced researchers across the world. The PACN, in collaboration with organisations like INASP (the International Network for the Availability of Scientific Publications), works to deliver programmes to train African researchers in skills like scientific writing.

The PACN should review its training provision to ensure it meets the needs of African researchers and, where necessary, implement new courses: for example, training scientists in how to engage with policymakers.

5.4 Building research capacity

A major barrier to scientific development in Africa is the fact that many scientists do not have access to the instruments and other equipment they need. A shortage of equipment not only makes it difficult to carry out high quality research but also complicates the training of the next generation of scientists. Sustained funding is critically important and governments must invest in the appropriate scientific infrastructure to enable growth in areas such as agricultural research.

The hub-and-spoke model which is designed to encourage the sharing of facilities between researchers in neighbouring countries, can help to solve the problem of access to equipment and fosters links and an exchange of ideas between African scientists. The PACN has established centres of excellence, using such a model, as a means of

5.6 Finance, markets and infrastructure

Farmers across Africa need access to appropriate financial schemes and markets to help make agriculture a viable livelihood in the long-term. Such access would help smallholders to increase fertiliser inputs, obtain high quality seeds, and modern, safe crop protection chemicals. Policies that help increase access to markets are also needed: for example, better transport infrastructure and access to appropriate

Appendix: Case studies

This section includes case studies written by speakers from the first PACN congress on agricultural productivity. They provide a series of examples highlighting the role of chemistry and other scientific disciplines in helping to develop methods to improve agricultural productivity in Africa and the future opportunities for growth to which they can lead.

Case study B Allelopathy in action the 'push-pull' system¹⁹

Tony Hooper and Charles Midega

As a result of a long-standing collaboration between The International Centre for Insect Physiology and Ecology (Kenya) and Rothamsted Research (UK), a strategy was developed to reduce stem-borer insect pest damage to subsistence-grown maize in smallholder and low-input farms. This comprises planting a highly attractive trap crop (Napier grass) around a maize field. The volatile chemicals from this trap crop act as a pull by attracting pest insects away from the maize. In addition, an intercrop, Desmodium uncinatum, is grown in rows within the maize. This intercrop produces volatile chemicals that repel pest insects and therefore act as a push. This pest management strategy is known as pushpull technology or Vuta Sukuma, and although it requires training it is suitable for application to smallholder farms.

This strategy has proved successful in reducing pest insect damage, and a further substantial benefit is that the Desmodium also prevents parasitic Striga weeds (commonly known as witchweeds) from attacking and destroying maize plants. Experiments have shown that **Desmodium** protects maize through an allelopathic mechanism whereby chemicals in the **Desmodium** roots are exuded into the soil and inhibit Striga development. Some of these chemicals have been identified and research is ongoing to provide an intercrop plant that can protect maize against Striga. But unlike Desmodium, which is a cattle forage legume, the new plant would be useful as a crop for human consumption. Approximately 50,000 farmers now employ pushpull technology on their smallholder farms and the creation of this technology, which was transferred successfully to resource-poor farmers through extension work, was made possible by the award of long-term research funding to African and European research laboratories.

® Rothamsted Research

The push-pull system.

Case study C Towards a sustainable cocoa economy

Paul Hadley

Cocoa is a very important crop in the humid and sub-humid regions of sub-Saharan Africa. Between 2009 and 2010 more than half of the world's cocoa was produced in the Ivory Coast and Ghana.²⁰ However, cocoa production in the future will require improvements in biological, chemical and agricultural practices.

Cocoa farming presents a number of challenges. For the farmer, it must provide a long-term income, whereas at the landscape level, it must be carried out in such a way that, for example, soil conditions are not degraded. Demand for cocoa continues to increase but many consumers now also demand that it is produced sustainably. Technically, one of the major challenges is to provide the cocoa farmer with new and improved cocoa varieties. Cocoa seeds have a lifespan of only a few days once removed from the pod, so new methods for handling and distributing plants are required if cocoa farmers are to have access to new breeding material.

Research on cocoa has resulted in a wealth of information that can help to provide tools for improving productivity. The complete genome map for cocoa was published in 2009. This information provides a valuable basis for the development of molecular-level tools that can improve the efficiency of plant breeding programmes. The development of new molecular tools will require collaboration between plant scientists, molecular biologists and biochemists. These tools could help to address the long-term needs of farmers by improving the quality, productivity and resistance to insects and diseases of the cocoa germplasm, and ensuring that cocoa trees are resilient to the effects of future climate change in the regions where it is grown.

A key challenge with such an approach is that many national research institutes across Africa do not have co-ordinated breeding programmes with access to molecular genetics tools. At the smallholder level, cocoa farmers have little or no access to seedlings of local improved varieties, suggesting that while there is a need for more research in Africa, there is also a need to construct a knowledge pipeline from scientific research to the farmer.

Case study D Sustainable chemicals: the role for agriculture

James Darkwa

Whilst agriculture for food production is important, the prospects for agriculture in areas such as fuel and production of bulk and fine chemicals should not be underestimated. For much of the developing world, especially in Africa, the issue of food security will take precedence over the use of crops in fuel and the production of chemicals. Such opportunities will not be realised unless avenues to increase agricultural productivity can be found.

Crops such as sugar cane, palm oil and corn are prime sources of food in most developing countries but are also crops that can provide fuel and commodity and fine chemicals. Sugar cane and corn are prime sources of ethanol, a fuel additive and fuel in its own right. Brazil is a leading country in the deployment of biofuels. As well as cultivating sugar for biofuel production, the country has now developed industrial-scale technology to convert ethanol into ethylene, a starting material for the production of polyethylene.

Both sugar cane and corn can be converted by fermentation into d, Flactide which can be used to make biodegradable polylactide for numerous applications in plastics, medical dressings and fabrics. Corn and other crops are sources of vegetable oils that contain fatty acids for conversion to biodiesel. Glycerol, a by-product from the production of biodiesel, has tremendous potential as a starting material for a number of commodity and fine chemicals. 21

A productive agricultural sector can help to secure a sustainable chemical industry. Chemistry research can therefore be directed at finding ways to fuendous. Anfg matJs

References

- 1 Farming Must Change to Feed the World, Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, http://www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/9962/icode/
- 2 Progress on Drinking Water and Sanitation, WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme (JMP) for Water Supply and Sanitation, 2012, http://www.unicef.org/media/ les/JMPreport2012.pdf
- 3 World Urbanisation Prospects, the 2011 Revision, United Nations, Department of Economic and Social A airs, http://esa.un.org/unpd/wup/Maps/maps_urban_2025.htm
- 4 CIA World Factbook, https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/
- 5 Potential impact of climate change on world food supply, C Rosenzweig, ML Parry, Nature, 1994, 367, 133
- 6 Food crop production, water and climate change in the developing world, T Wheeler, M Kay, Outlook on Agriculture, 2010, **39** (4), 239
- 7 World Bank Data Indicators; Agriculture and Development, Fertiliser Consumption, http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/AG.CON.FERT.ZS
- 8 Africa Soil Information Service, http://www.africasoils.net/
- 9 Phosphorus Uptake by Plants: From Soil to Cell, DP Schachtman, RJ Reid, SM Ayling, Plant Physiology, 1998, 116 (2), 447
- 10 Our Industry, 2012, Syngenta International AG, http://www.syngenta.com/global/corporate/SiteCollectionDocuments/pdf/publications/ Our_industry_2012_EN_low_res_mail.pdf
- 11 Chapter 4, Basic and Applied Aspects of Neonicotinoid Insecticides from Green Trends in Insect Control, R Naven, P Jeschke, Royal Society of Chemistry, 2011
- 12 Insect host lation: a volatile situation, TJA Bruce, LJ Wadhams, CM Woodcock, Trends in Plant Science, 2005, 10 (6), 269
- 13 The International Centre for Insect Physiology and Ecology, http://www.icipe.org/
- 14 Africa's Water Quality A Chemical Science Perspective, Pan Africa Chemistry Network, http://www.rsc.org/images/RSC_PACN_Water_Report_tcm18-176914.pdf, March 2010
- 15 Water and Agriculture in the Green Economy Information Brief, UN-Water Decade Programme on Advocacy and Communication (UNW-DPAC), http://www.un.org/waterforlifedecade/green_economy_2011/pdf/info_brief_water_and_agriculture_eng.pdf
- 16 Water E cient Maize for Africa (WEMA), http://www.aatf-africa.org/wema
- 17 **The Future of Food and Farming**, Final Project Report, Foresight, the Government O ce for Science, London, January 2011
- 18 Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa, http://www.agra-alliance.org/AGRA/en/what-we-do/agras-soil-health-program-/our-strategy-/training-and-education/
- 19 Control of witchweed Striga hermonthica by Intercropping with Desmodium spp., and the mechanism de ned as allelopathic, ZR Khan, A Hassanali, W Overholt, TM Khamis, AM Hooper, JA Pickett, LJ Wadhams, CM Woodcock, Journal of Chemical Ecology, 2002, **28** (9), 1871
- 20 Cocoa Market Update, World Cocoa Foundation, http://www.worldcocoafoundation.org/about-cocoa/cocoa-market-statistics/
- 21 Regioselectivunctionalization of glycerol with a dithiocarbamate moiety: an environmentally friendly route to safer fungion R De Sousa, C Thurier, C Len, Y Pouilloux, J Barrault, F JØrôme, Green Chemistry, 2011, 13, 1129

Links active at the time of going to print.